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Re gister of Actions
Case No. D-14-506883-D

Sarah Maurice, Plaintiff
vs.
Justin Maurice, Defendant. §
§
§
§
§
§
§

Case Type: Divorce - Complaint
Subtype: Complaint Subject Minor(s)

Date Filed: 12/11/2014
Location: Department Q

Cross-Reference Case Number: D506883
Supreme Court No.: 83009

Party Information

Lead Attorneys
Defendant Maurice, Justin Male Bradley J. Hofland

  Retained
702-895-6760(W)

  108 Westin LN 
  Henderson, NV 89002

 

Plaintiff Maurice, Sarah Female Rachel M. Jacobson
  Retained
702-601-0770(W)

  1596 Rusy Ridge LN 
  Henderson, NV 89002

 

Subject Minor Maurice, Emma
 

Subject Minor Maurice, Savannah

Events & Orders of the Court

09/28/2015  Non-Jury Trial 
(1:30 PM)
(Judicial Officer Duckworth, Bryce C.)
Financial

 

   

Minutes
09/28/2015 1:30 PM

- Michael Padilla, Court Clerk, present.
Prior to today's hearing Court
staff had been informed a Stipulated Decree of Divorce is forthcoming.
Therefore, COURT ORDERED, matter taken OFF CALENDAR.

 
Return to Register of Actions
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Re gister of Actions
Case No. D-14-506883-D

Sarah Maurice, Plaintiff
vs.
Justin Maurice, Defendant. §
§
§
§
§
§
§

Case Type: Divorce - Complaint
Subtype: Complaint Subject Minor(s)

Date Filed: 12/11/2014
Location: Department Q

Cross-Reference Case Number: D506883
Supreme Court No.: 83009

Party Information

Lead Attorneys
Defendant Maurice, Justin Male Bradley J. Hofland

  Retained
702-895-6760(W)

  108 Westin LN 
  Henderson, NV 89002

 

Plaintiff Maurice, Sarah Female Rachel M. Jacobson
  Retained
702-601-0770(W)

  1596 Rusy Ridge LN 
  Henderson, NV 89002

 

Subject Minor Maurice, Emma
 

Subject Minor Maurice, Savannah

Events & Orders of the Court

01/20/2016  All Pending Motions 
(10:00 AM)
(Judicial Officer Duckworth, Bryce C.)
 
   Minutes

01/20/2016 10:00 AM
- DEFENDANT'S MOTION AND NOTICE OF MOTION FOR ORDERS

TO MODIFY CHILD SUPPORT AND/OR SPOUSAL
SUPPORT...PLAINTIFF'S OPPOSITION AND COUNTERMOTION TO
REDUCE ARREARS TO JUDGEMENT AND FOR ATTORNEY'S
FEES
Ms. Jacobson said she believed the parties had resolved the
issues.
The Court explained to Defendant it could not retroactively
modify his child support. The Court said it could only modify his child
support from when he filed his Motion on December 18, 2015, and
since the Motion was filed in December, the modification would take
place effective January, 2016. The Court said any arrearages accrued
prior to the filing of his Motion, could not be modified retroactively. Ms.
Jacobson said the Schedule of Arrearages were for child support
arrearages and unreimbused day care expenses.
COURT ORDERED,
the following:
1. Pursuant to the stipulation of the parties, based on
Defendant's representation he makes $1,700.00 every two weeks, his
child support will be reduced to $920.00 per month effective January,
2016. The District Attorney's Office is currently garnishing Defendant's
wages, and three (3) checks have already been garnished; however,
Plaintiff has only received one payment. Defendant will look into this.
Commencing February, 2016, Defendant will receive an offset against
his child support in the amount of $134.00 per month for the minor
children's medical insurance premium cost.
2. Pursuant to the
stipulation of the parties, two Schedules of Arrearages have been filed
with the Court, one for child support arrearages, and one for day care
reimbursement, and each schedule will be REDUCED TO
JUDGMENT, collectible by any legal means, which will be STAYED,
provided Defendant pays $217.00 per month towards his arrearages
until they are paid in full. The District Attorney's Office may add that
amount to the wage garnishment from Defendant's pay check every
month.
3. Since Defendant did not provide medical insurance for the
minor children in October, November, and December, 2015, and
January, 2016, he shall reimburse Plaintiff the sum of $130.00 for the
offset he was receiving to his child support every month to provide
medical insurance for the children, in the amount of $520.00, which
shall be REDUCED TO JUDGMENT.
4. Since Plaintiff was forced to
obtain medical insurance for the minor children during the months of
October, November, and December, 2015, and January, 2016,
Defendant shall reimburse Plaintiff for half of the premium amount she
was paying for the medical insurance for the children. Since Plaintiff
was paying $280.00 per month for the medical insurance, with
Defendant's share being $140.00 per month, he shall also reimburse ROA000330
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Plaintiff the sum of $560.00, which shall be REDUCED TO
JUDGMENT.
5. Ms. Jacobson is awarded attorney fees in the amount
of $250.00.
6. Ms. Jacobson shall prepare the Order. Defendant shall
have fourteen (14) days to review and sign off on the order.

 
    Parties Present

Return to Register of Actions
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DISTRICT COURT, FAMILY DIVISION 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
SARAH MAURICE,  
 
                               Plaintiff, 
 
           vs. 
 
JUSTIN MAURICE, 
 
                              Defendant. 

 
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

 
CASE NO.:  D-14-506883-D 
DEPT. NO.: Q 
  
DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF 
MOTION AND MOTION TO 
MODIFY THE CURRENT 
CUSTODIAL ARRANGEMENT; 
MODIFY CHILD SUPPORT; 
MODIFY CHILD TAX 
DEDUCTION; AND FOR AN 
AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES 
AND COSTS; AND RELATED 
RELIEF. 
 
ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED 

TO:  Plaintiff Sarah Maurice and your Attorney of Record: 
 
YOU ARE REQUIRED TO FILE A WRITTEN RESPONSE TO THIS 

MOTION WITH THE CLERK OF THE COURT AND TO PROVIDE THE 
UNDER-SIGNED WITH A COPY OF YOUR RESPONSE WITHIN 
FOURTEEN (14) DAYS OF YOUR RECEIPT OF THIS MOTION.  
FAILURE TO FILE A WRITTEN RESPONSE WITH THE CLERK OF 
THE COURT WITHIN FOURTEEN (14) DAYS OF YOUR RECEIPT OF 
THIS MOTION MAY RESULT IN THE REQUESTED RELIEF BEING 
GRANTED BY THE COURT WITHOUT HEARING PRIOR TO THE 
SCHEDULED HEARING DATE. 

YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the 

HOFLAND & TOMSHECK
Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
Nevada Bar Number: 6343 
bradh@hoflandlaw.com 
Dina DeSousa Cabral, Esq. 
Nevada Bar Number:  15032 
dinad@hoflandlaw.com 
228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephones:  (702) 895-6760 
Facsimile: (702) 731-6910 
Attorney for Defendant, Justin Maurice 
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Case Number: D-14-506883-D

Electronically Filed
9/17/2020 4:56 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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undersigned will bring the above and foregoing Motion on for hearing before the 

Court at the courtroom of the above-entitled court, located at 601 N. Pecos Road, 

Las Vegas, Nevada, on the date and time set by the Court in Department Q of the 

above-entitled Court. 

COMES NOW the Defendant, Justin Maurice (“Justin”), by and through his 

attorneys, Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. and Dina DeSousa-Cabral, Esq. of HOFLAND 

& TOMSHECK, and hereby moves the Court for an order: 

1. Modifying child custody of Savanah Maurice and Emma Maurice to 

joint physical custody on a 2-2-3 schedule; 

2. Modifying child support, and set support in accordance with Wright v. 

Osburn, 114 Nev. 1367, 970 P.2d 1071 (1998), NRS 125B.070, NRS 

125B.080 and NAC 425.15;  

3. Modifying the child tax deduction so each party claims a minor child as 

a dependent on taxes each year; 

4. Awarding Justin attorney’s fees for the conduct of the Plaintiff Sarah 

Maurice that has caused this Motion to be filed with this Court; and 

5. Addressing any further relief this court deems proper and necessary. 

In support of this motion, Justin relies upon the following Memorandum of 

Points and Authorities, the attached declaration, as well as all papers and 

pleadings on file herein. 

Dated this 17th day of September, 2020.   
     HOFLAND & TOMSHECK 
 
     By:/s/ Bradley J. Hofland              
          Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
          Nevada Bar No. 6343 
          Dina DeSousa-Cabral, Esq. 
          Nevada Bar No. 15032 
          228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
          Las Vegas Nevada 89101 
          Attorneys for Defendant Justin Maurice 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 
I. 

Statement of Facts 

On September 30, 2015, Defendant Justin Maurice (“Justin”) and Plaintiff 

Sarah Maurice (“Sarah”) were divorced.  Because of Justin’s work schedule at 

Yesco1 at the time of the Decree and initial custodial determination, the Parties 

agreed that Sarah would be awarded primary custody of their two children born 

from their marriage, namely Savannah Maurice (“Savannah”), born April 27, 

2007 and Emma Maurice (“Emma”), born February 12, 2014.   Per the Decree and 

the Parties’ agreement, Justin’s visitation with Savannah and Emma is every other 

weekend from Friday after school or 3:00 p.m. if school is not in session.  Per 

stipulation of the Parties on December 5, 2016, Justin’s current child support 

obligation is $1,200 a month.  Additionally, pursuant to the Decree,  Sarah claims 

Savannah and Emma on her income taxes each year.   

Since entry of the Decree, Justin has changed employment and currently 

works four (4) days per week (Monday through Thursday) from 8am to 4 pm, and 

works remotely from home.  Additionally, since entry of the Decree, Sarah’s 

hours have increased, as well as her income, and she works Monday through 

Friday.  Sarah’s work schedule does not allow her to get home from work until 

6:00 p.m.  As such, Savannah and Emma are necessarily being taken care of 

during the week by a third party2--despite the fact Justin is home and able to watch 

the girls and supervise their schooling (which is also currently being done 

remotely).   Further, Justin’s wife is home each day supervising her children’s 

 
1 Justin worked with Sarah at Yesco where Sarah worked in HR and set Justin’s 
work hours which enabled her to get primary custody of the minor children and 
once the divorce was final, Justin was laid off from Yesco.  
2 Sarah’s friend, a police officer and works nights, has been watching Savannah 
and Emma during the day, however she spends the majority of the day sleeping.  
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schooling and could easily, and is willing to, also assist with Savannah’s and 

Emma’s schooling.    

It should also be noted that in March, 2020, Justin took care of the minor 

children during the week when Sarah was at work.  However, when Justin 

requested they change the custodial timeshare to joint custody on a 2-2-3 

schedule3, which eliminates and/or reduces the time the children must be cared for 

by others and ensures greater attention to their schooling, which is clearly in their 

best interests, Sarah retaliated and abruptly stopped having Justin take care of 

Savannah and Emma during the week while she was at work.  Instead of agreeing 

to a schedule that benefits the children, she decided she would rather a third party 

watch the minor children—during the times Justin is not working and available for 

the children--and since school has started, this means a third party is now also 

supervising their remote education. 

Because the facts of this case, applicable law, and best interests of the 

minor children, merit modification of the custodial timeshare to joint physical 

custody, the court will readily determine that the best interests of the minor 

children support the relief Justin requests. Accordingly, given the fact Justin’s 

work schedule has changed, enabling him to be home with Savannah and Emma 

during the week and during school, Justin seeks modification of the custody and 

support provisions of the decree as well as requests the tax deductions for the 

minor children be shared.    

 

 

/// 

/// 

/// 

 
3 Justin requests his custodial timeshare be Monday and Tuesday each week and 
every other weekend, Friday through Sunday.  
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   II. 
Legal Analysis 

A. The Best Interests of Savannah and Emma Mandates Modification of 
the Current Custodial Schedule. 

The law is clear that a change in custody or visitation is warranted when: 

(1) the circumstances of the child or family unit as a whole have been 

substantially changed; and (2) the modification is in the best interest of the 

child under the factors set forth in NRS 125.480(4).  Ellis v. Carucci, 123 Nev. 

145, 161 P.3d 239 (2007). The Court’s paramount consideration in making 

decisions pertaining to custody and support of minor children must be the 

welfare of the minor children. Culbertson v. Culbertson, 91 Nev. 230, 533 

P.2d 768 (1974). Moreover, the guiding principle in the court’s exercise of 

its discretion in cases affecting the rights and welfare of the minor children is 

the best interests and the welfare of the minor children whose rights are 

involved.  Frenkell v. Frenkell, 86 Nev. 397, 469 P.2d 701 (1970). Broad 

discretion is given to the Court in decisions regarding custody so as to 

promote the best interests of the minor children, not the rights of the Parties. 

Atkins v. Atkins, 50 Nev. 333, 259 P.2d 288 (1927).   

Furthermore, the law is clear that preference must not be given to 

either parent for the sole reason that the parent is the mother or the father of 

the child. NRS §125C.0035(2). Indeed, when determining custody of minor 

children, joint custody shall be awarded unless the best interests of the children 

dictate otherwise. 

In Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57 (2000), the United States Supreme 

Court emphasized the presumption that “a fit parent acts in the best interests of 

their children.”  Such action was undertaken and effectuated when the parties 

engaged in a settlement conference and reached a custodial agreement.  By the 

same token, the parties have made a subsequent determination that 

modifies/changes the initial custodial determination in order to meet the best 

ROA000346
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interests of their children. 

Indeed, our Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly held “[p]arties are free to 

agree to child custody arrangements and those agreements are enforceable if they 

are not unconscionable, illegal, or in violation of public policy.”4   

Clearly, the Parties agreed to Sarah being awarded primary custody5 of 

Savannah and Emma based upon the belief and expectation that Justin would 

continue to work at Yesco and not have the ability—despite his desire—to spend 

additional time with the children.   At that time, Savannah was eight (8) and 

Emma was one (1) years of age.  Savannah is now thirteen (13) and Emma is six 

(6) years of age and both minor children are in school. Clearly, since the above 

referenced custodial determination, there has been a significant change of 

circumstances that materially affect the minor children and necessitate a 

change/modification of the custodial designation. 

When determining the best interest of the child NRS §125C.0035 directs the 

court to consider a number of factors with any custodial determination. Among 

those, relevant to the matter at hand, are:  

a. The wishes of the child if the child is of sufficient age and capacity to 
form an intelligent preference as to his or her custody. NRS 
§125C.0035(4)(a).  

Emma is 6 years old and Savannah is 13 years old.  Savannah is of 

sufficient age and capacity to form an intelligent preference as to her custody and 

visitation.  The minor children have conveyed their preference of wanting to 

spend more time with their father rather than with a third party. This factor favors 

Justin and the modification of the current custodial timeshare.  
 

 
4 See, e.g. Rivero v. Rivero, 125 Nev. 410, 195 P.3d 328 (2009). 
5 In must be noted at the time of entry of the decree Justin was not represented by 
counsel and the stipulated decree was prepare by Sarah’s counsel.  
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b. Which parent is more likely to allow the child to have frequent 
associations and a continuing relationship with the noncustodial 
parent. NRS §125C.0035(4)(c).  

Justin has always encouraged and supported Savannah and Emma to have a 

strong relationship with both parents.  Justin agreed to Sarah having primary 

custody of the minor children given their ages at the time of the Decree as well as 

Justin’s work schedule.  Sarah was agreeable to Savannah and Emma spending 

more time with Justin when he began working remotely two of the four work days 

in March, 2020.  However, when Justin recognized the benefit to the children and 

expressed his desire for joint physical custody, Sarah retaliated and disallowed the 

minor children to have additional time with Justin during the week.  As such, the 

Parties’ actions reveal that Justin is the parent who ensures frequent associations 

and is the parent who ensures the needs of Savannah and Emma are met.   

On the other hand, Sarah would prefer that Savannah and Emma be taken 

care of by a third party rather than by their father.  Sarah’s conduct establishes that 

she is not the parent who will allow frequent associations and a continuing 

relationship between Savannah and Emma and their father.   It is believed that 

Sarah has decided she want to remain Savannah’s and Emma’s primary physical 

custodian so she can continue to receive child support regardless of the detriment 

such a position has upon the minor children.  Thus, this factor favors Justin and 

the modification of the current custodial timeshare.  

c. Level of conflict between the parties. NRS §125C.0035(4)(d). 

Justin is loving and exceptionally attentive to the needs of the Savannah and 

Emma. Justin believes it is best to avoid conflict, especially when it affects 

Savannah and Emma, but as long as Sarah continues to ignore what is best for 

Savannah and Emma, coupled with her continuing desire to frustrate and thwart a 

frequent, meaningful and strengthening relation between the minor children and 

their father, the conflict will remain.   Sadly, because of Sarah’s focus on what 

financially benefits her, she does not recognize, or more troubling—does not 
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care about, the detriment her position has upon the children.  The law supports 

Justin’s request for joint physical custody. Thus, this factor also favors Justin and 

the modification of the current custodial timeshare.  

d. Ability of the parents to cooperate to meet the needs of the child. NRS 
§125C.0035(4)(e). 

The Parties have the ability to cooperate to meet the needs of Savannah and 

Emma, but Sarah has made it clear that she is unwilling to do so if child support is 

going to be reduced as a result of such accommodation. In other words, Sarah 

believes the emotional and educational benefits to the children can be neglected if 

doing so financially benefits Sarah.  Justin has shown that he is a suitable 

caregiver and will cooperate to meet the needs of Savannah and Emma.  More 

upsetting is Sarah’s willingness to gamble Savannah’s and Emma’s best interests 

to prevent Justin from having more time with minor children and being a stable 

and constant party of Savannah’s and Emma’s lives.  The best interests of 

Savannah and Emma warrant a modification of the current custodial arrangement 

to allow Savannah and Emma to spend equal time with both parents.    

e. Mental and physical health of the parties. NRS §125C.0035(4)(f).  

Both Parties are health and have the ability to properly car for Savannah 

and Emma.  Sarah’s refusal to recognize Savannah’s and Emma’s need for Justin 

as their joint physical custodian, as well as his (and the children’s) unequivocal 

preference for the same, raises concern to the mental state of Sarah.  As long as 

she remains under the belief that she alone is able to determine the custodial 

arrangement that will be followed by the Parties, her unreasonableness will 

continue to impact the minor children’s well-being.  There can be no dispute that 

based upon Sarah’s behavior modification of the current custodial schedule is 

warranted. This factor clearly favors Justin and the modification of the current 

custodial arrangement. 
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f. The physical, developmental and emotional needs of the child. NRS 
§125C.0035(4)(g).  

  Savannah’s and Emma’s physical, development and emotional needs are 

typical of children their age.   Justin has proven himself capable of recognizing 

and satisfying those needs.  Having the ability to avail themselves to the love, care 

and guidance of both parents on a regular and frequent bases is in Savannah’s and 

Emma’s best interests and preventing them from doing so is undeniably not in 

their best interest.  Justin wants Savannah and Emma to have a loving and 

significant bond with both parents.  This factor certainly favors Justin and the 

modification of the current custodial arrangement.  

g. The nature of the relationship of the child with each parent. NRS  
§125C.0035(4)(h).   

Savannah and Emma have a relationship with both parents and they love 

both of them dearly.  Justin wants the relationship Savannah and Emma have with 

both parents to continue to grow and strengthen; to be a reliable and constant 

source of strength and support as they continue through challenges, joys and 

experiences life has for them, whereas Sarah’s focus is financial rather than the 

best interests of the children.  With the increasing presence of peer pressure 

especially for Savannah in her teenage years, parental involvement is critical. 

Additionally, NRS 125.460 describes the policy of this State as one that 

ensures “minor children have frequent associations and a continuing relationship 

with both parents.”  Likewise, NRS 125.480 opens with the directive that the 

“sole consideration of the court” in custody cases must be that of the “best 

interest of the child[ren].” 

Based upon the substantial change of circumstances, that clearly affect the 

well-being of the children, coupled with consideration to the best interest factors 

enumerated in NRS 125C.0035, Justin has set forth a prima facia case to modify 
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the current custodial order under Rooney6 designating him and Sarah as joint 

physical custodians of Savannah and Emma.  This factor plainly favors Justin and 

the modification of the current custodial timeshare.  

h. Whether either parent has engaged in an act of domestic violence 
against the parent of the child. NRS §125C.0035(4)(k).  

Not applicable.    
 

i. Whether either parent or any other person seeking physical custody 
has engaged in an act of domestic violence against the child, a parent 
of the child or any other person residing with the child. NRS 
§125C.0035(4)(k). 

Not applicable 

Accordingly, for the best interest of Savannah and Emma, Justin reasonably 

requests modification of the current custodial timeshare to joint physical custody 

of the minor children.   

B. The modification of the current custodial schedule warrants a 
modification of child support. 

With the modification of the current custodial schedule, as joint custodians, 

child support must necessarily be modified and should be set in accordance with 

Wright v. Osburn, 114 Nev. 1367, 970 P.2d 1071 (1998), NRS 125B.070, NRS 

125B.080 and NAC 425.15.  Justin has always been willing to support his children 

and remains intent on providing for the children’s needs.  Sarah has shown she is 

willing to sacrifice the best interests of the children if that means Justin’s child 

support will not be reduced. 

C.  Modification of the child tax deduction is warranted.   

With the modification of the current custodial schedule, as joint custodians, 

the child tax deduction must necessarily be modified so the Parties share the tax 

deduction each year.  

 
6 Rooney v. Rooney, 109 Nev. 540 (Nev. 1993).   
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D. Russell is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs. 

In Barney v. Mt. Rose Heating & Air Conditioning, 192 P.3d 730, 736 

(2008) citing Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 

(1969), the Court enumerated factors that the district court should consider in 

awarding attorney fees, with no one factor controlling, as follows: 
 

(1) the advocate's qualities, including ability, training, education, 
experience, professional standing, and skill; 
 
(2) the character of the work, including its difficulty, intricacy, importance, 
as well as the time and skill required, the responsibility imposed, and the 
prominence and character of the parties when affecting the importance of 
the litigation; 
 
(3) the work performed, including the skill, time, and attention given to the 
work; and 
 
(4) the result--whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were 
derived.  

Justin has met the factors outlined in Brunzell.  Justin’s counsel is qualified 

and has considerable experience, ability and training in the field of family law 

litigation. It is the responsibility of Justin’s counsel to finalize outstanding issues 

to ensure Justin’s rights are preserved and litigated, and more importantly, that 

minor children’s best interests remain paramount.  Justin’s counsel was attentive 

to work performed.  Accordingly, based upon the foregoing, it is not only fair, but 

also reasonable under the circumstances that Sarah be responsible for Justin’s 

reasonable attorney fees and costs in the sum of $3,500. 

IV. 
Conclusion 

Based upon the above, the safety and best interests of the children call for 

the immediate modification of the custodial arrangement. Justin respectfully 

requests that this Court enter an Order:   
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1. Modifying child custody of Savanah Maurice and Emma Maurice to 

joint physical custody on a 2-2-3 schedule; 

2. Modifying child support, and set support in accordance with Wright v. 

Osburn, 114 Nev. 1367, 970 P.2d 1071 (1998), NRS 125B.070, NRS 

125B.080 and NAC 425.15;  

3. Modifying the child tax deduction so each party claims a minor child as 

a dependent on taxes each year; 

4. Awarding Justin attorney’s fees for the conduct of the Plaintiff Sarah 

Maurice that has caused this Motion to be filed with this Court; and 

5. Addressing any further relief this court deems proper and necessary. 

 

Dated this 17th day of September, 2020.   

      
     HOFLAND & TOMSHECK 
 
     By:/s/ Bradley J. Hofland              
          Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
          Nevada Bar No. 6343 
          Dina DeSousa-Cabral, Esq. 
          Nevada Bar No. 15032 
          228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
          Las Vegas Nevada 89101 
          Attorneys for Defendant Justin Maurice 
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DECLARATION OF JUSTIN MAURICE 

 I, Justin Maurice, hereby state and declare as follows:  

1. That I am the Defendant in this action and I am competent to testify 

as to the matters stated herein.   

2. I have read the foregoing motion and the factual averments it 

contains are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, except as to those 

matters based on information and belief, and as to those matters, I believe them to 

be true.  Those factual averments contained in the referenced filing are 

incorporated here as if set forth in full. 

 

 DATED this 17th day of September, 2020. 

 

      /s/ Justin Maurice  
      Justin Maurice 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I am an employee of Hofland & Tomsheck, that 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and EDCR 7.26, I certify that on the 17th day of September, 

2020, I served the DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION 

FOR MODIFY THE CURRENT CUSTODIAL ARRANGEMENT: MODIFY 

CHILD SUPPORT; MODIFY CHILD TAX DEDUCTION; AND FOR AN 

AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS; AND RELATED RELIEF. 

on the following parties by E-Service through Odyssey and/or U.S. mail addressed 

as follows:  
 
 
 Jacobson Law Office, Ltd. 
 64 North Pecos Road, Suite 200 
 Henderson, NV 89074 
 Attorney for Plaintiff  
 
      By: /s/ Nikki Woulfe     
            Employee of Hofland & Tomsheck 
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MOFI 
DISTRICT COURT 
FAMILY DIVISION 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

Plaintiff/Petitioner

v.

Defendant/Respondent

Case No.   

Dept.         

MOTION/OPPOSITION
FEE INFORMATION SHEET

Notice: Motions and Oppositions filed after entry of a final order issued pursuant to NRS 125, 125B or 125C are 
subject to the reopen filing fee of $25, unless specifically excluded by NRS 19.0312.  Additionally, Motions and 
Oppositions filed in cases initiated by joint petition may be subject to an additional filing fee of $129 or $57 in 
accordance with Senate Bill 388 of the 2015 Legislative Session. 

Step 1.  Select either the $25 or $0 filing fee in the box below. 
$25 The Motion/Opposition being filed with this form is subject to the $25 reopen fee.
-OR-

$0 The Motion/Opposition being filed with this form is not subject to the $25 reopen
fee because:

The Motion/Opposition  is being filed before a Divorce/Custody Decree has been 
entered.
The Motion/Opposition is being filed solely to adjust the amount of child support 
established in a final order.
The Motion/Opposition is for reconsideration or for a new trial, and is being filed 
within 10 days after a final judgment or decree was entered.  The final order was 
entered on .
Other Excluded Motion (must specify) .

Step 2.  Select the $0, $129 or $57 filing fee in the box below. 
$0 The Motion/Opposition being filed with this form is not subject to the $129 or the

$57 fee because:
The Motion/Opposition is being filed in a case that was not initiated by joint petition.
The party filing the Motion/Opposition previously paid a fee of $129 or $57.

  -OR-

$129 The Motion being filed with this form is subject to the $129 fee because it is a motion
to modify, adjust or enforce a final order.

  -OR-

$57 The Motion/Opposition being filing with this form is subject to the $57 fee because it is 
an opposition to a motion to modify, adjust or enforce a final order, or it is a motion
and the opposing party has already paid a fee of $129.

Step 3.  Add the filing fees from Step 1 and Step 2. 

The total filing fee for the motion/opposition I am filing with this form 
is       $0     X  $  25     $57       $82      $129       $154

Party filing Motion/Opposition:   Date 

Signature of Party or Preparer  

X
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

**** 

 

Sarah Maurice, Plaintiff 

vs. 

Justin Maurice, Defendant. 

Case No.: D-14-506883-D 

  

Department Q 
 

 

 

NOTICE OF HEARING 

 

 

      Please be advised that the Deft's Notice of Motion and Motion to Modify the Current 

Custodial Arrangement; Modify Child Support; Modify Child Tax Deduction; And for an 

Award of Attorney's Fees and Costs; And Related Relief in the above-entitled matter is set 

for hearing as follows:  

Date:  October 27, 2020 

Time:  9:00 AM 

Location: Courtroom 01 

   Family Courts and Services Center 

   601 N. Pecos Road 

   Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 

NOTE: Under NEFCR 9(d), if a party is not receiving electronic service through the 

Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing System, the movant requesting a 

hearing must serve this notice on the party by traditional means. 

 

 STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CEO/Clerk of the Court 

 

 

By: 

 

 

/s/ Tonya Mulvenon 

 Deputy Clerk of the Court 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I hereby certify that pursuant to Rule 9(b) of the Nevada Electronic Filing and Conversion 

Rules a copy of this Notice of Hearing was electronically served to all registered users on 

this case in the Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing System. 

 

 

By: /s/ Tonya Mulvenon 

 Deputy Clerk of the Court 
 

Case Number: D-14-506883-D

Electronically Filed
9/18/2020 2:23 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Case Number: D-14-506883-D

Electronically Filed
10/1/2020 2:43 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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OPPC 
RACHEL M. JACOBSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 007827 
JACOBSON LAW OFFICE, LTD 
64 North Pecos Road, Suite 200 
Henderson, Nevada 89074 
(702) 601-0770 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

 
Case No. D-14-506883-D  
Dept. No. Q 
 

Date of Hearing:  10/27/2020 
Time of Hearing:  9:00 AM 
 
ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED  
 
 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO MODIFY 
CUSTODY, CHILD SUPPORT, CHILD TAX DEDUCTION, FOR AN 

AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS, AND RELATED RELIEF; 
AND COUNTERMOTION FOR ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS  

COMES NOW Plaintiff, SARAH MAURICE (“Plaintiff” and/or “Sarah”), 

by and through her attorney Rachel M. Jacobson, Esq., of Jacobson Law Office, 

Ltd., and hereby submits her Opposition and Countermotion to Defendant JUSTIN 

MAURICE’s (“Defendant” and/or “Justin”), Motion filed September 17, 2020 as 

set forth below. 

SARAH MAURICE, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
vs. 
 
JUSTIN MAURICE, 
 
 Defendant. 
 

Case Number: D-14-506883-D

Electronically Filed
10/1/2020 11:13 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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 This Opposition and Countermotion is made and based upon the pleadings 

on file herein, any exhibits filed herein, and the oral argument that may be adduced 

at the time of hearing of this matter. 

 Sarah respectfully requests this Court enter orders granting the following 

relief: 

1. For an Order denying Defendant’s Motion in its entirety; 

2. For a behavioral order limiting Justin’s alcohol consumption while the 

girls are in his care, preventing Justin from disparaging Sarah to the 

parties’ children, and/or telling them inappropriate and/or damaging 

information with them; 

3. For an award of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs to the Plaintiff in 

defending this action; and 

4. For such further relief as deemed appropriate in the premises.  

DATED this 1st day of October 2020. 

      JACOBSON LAW OFFICE, LTD 
      
       

      ____________________________ 
      Rachel M. Jacobson, Esq. 
      Nevada Bar No. 007827 
      64 North Pecos Road, Suite 200 
      Henderson, Nevada 89074 
      (702) 601-0770 
      Attorney for Plaintiff 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 
 

I. 
 

BACKGROUND AND STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS 
 

 The parties to this action divorced in September of 2015.  Together the 

parties have two minor children:  Savannah Maurice, born April 27, 2007; and 

Emma Maurice, born February 12, 2014.  Prior to their divorce, the parties 

separated in September of 2014.  Sarah filed the underlying Complaint for Divorce 

in December of 2014.  After several filings and hearings, the parties ultimately 

entered a stipulated Decree of Divorce on September 30, 2015.  This Decree marks 

the last custodial order in this matter.   

 As provided in the parties’ Decree of Divorce, in relevant part, primary 

physical custody was confirmed upon Sarah and Justin’s visitation was set every 

other weekend from Friday after school or 3:00 p.m. if no school to Sunday at 6:00 

p.m. The Decree also set Justin’s child support obligation at $1,260 per month.  

And Sarah shall claim the minor children on her income taxes every year.   

 Three months after entry of the Decree, Justin filed a motion to modify child 

support claiming that his income had changed by more than 20% and Justin sought 

to lower his monthly obligation to $680.00. At the January 2016 hearing upon 

Justin’s motion and Sarah’s opposition and countermotion, the parties represented 

to the Court their agreement to lower Justin’s child support obligation to $920 per 
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month effective January 2016.  Further, provided he began to provide health 

insurance for the parties’ children, Justin was to receive an offset of $134.00 each 

month.1  The Court also ordered that Sarah was awarded $5,102.24, reduced to 

judgment, as and for Justin’s child support arrears.  Collection was stayed so long 

as Justin paid $217.00 per month toward the arrearages until paid in full. The D.A. 

was instructed to add this amount to the child support amount to be garnished from 

Justin’s pay checks.  Justin was also ordered to pay to Sarah an additional $1,080 

stemming from his failure to provide health insurance for the parties’ children.2 

 On December 5, 2016, the parties filed their Stipulation and Order 

increasing Justin’s child support obligation to $1,200 per month as his income 

increased to $5,252 per month.  The parties further agreed that Justin shall provide 

health insurance for the parties’ children with no offset to his support obligation (as 

there is no additional charge to cover the girls).  And, as Justin failed to pay his 

portion of the childcare costs, the parties agreed that his arrearages of $3,950.50 

were reduced to judgment with the D.A. to add $350.50 to Justin’s current monthly 

arrears payments.  This Stipulation and Order also specifically left all other 

previous order intact.   

 
1 See Order filed February 29, 2016. 

2 Id. at page 3, line 3. 
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 On July 26, 2017, the parties filed a document entitled Partial Payment for 

Property Equalization stating that Justin had paid to Sarah some of the equalization 

payment obligation Justin was to pay to Sarah pursuant to the terms of the parties’ 

Decree of Divorce.  The document further stated that Justin had a remaining 

balance of $10,000 toward this payment obligation.    

 To date, Justin has not paid this remaining equalization obligation, nor has 

he paid to Sarah the arrearages ordered by this Court.   

 Since the entry of the parties’ Decree of Divorce, Sarah has demonstrated a 

willingness to work with Justin and has agreed to lower his obligations when he so 

requested.  Likewise, Sarah has accommodated Justin’s request regarding the 

children.  During the first week of school, Sarah agreed for the girls to attend 

school at Justin’s residence.  This agreement was only regarding the first week of 

school.  As Justin has remarried, his wife (who has 4 other children of varying 

ages) was available to assist the parties’ children assimilate into the new on-line 

school arrangement during the first week of school.  This agreement, however, has 

backfired.  Not only have the girls encountered chaos in Justin’s home during 

school hours, Justin began demanding this arrangement on a regular basis.  The 

children’s nanny started the following week.  She comes to Sarah’s home on 

Mondays, Tuesdays and Wednesdays and is committed to supervising the girls’ 

school attendance and compliance.  The girls know her and are comfortable with 
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her.   She has provided nanny services, babysitting, and help with school 

pickups/drop offs for over two and a half years while Justin and his current wife 

have only been together a total of one year.  Moreover, Justin’s wife has not 

provided adequate care for the parties’ daughters.  For example, Savannah has 

overheard Justin’s wife bribing the parties’ younger daughter, Emma, to get her to 

say she wants to stay at their house. When Sarah brought this up to Justin, Justin 

expressed that he knew nothing about it; thus, it appears Justin is not aware of what 

his wife is telling the parties’ minor children.   Justin’s wife has also disparaged 

Sarah and undermined her parenting to the girls.  She tells the girls that Sarah is 

too harsh and that she needs to learn how to choose her battles.  Moreover, Justin’s 

wife has allowed Savannah to try alcohol on more than one occasion.  Despite this, 

Sarah has continually attempted to cooperate with Justin. 

 In further efforts to work with Justin, as the schools closed following 

COVID related restrictions, Justin and Sarah agreed that, temporarily, the girls 

would visit with Justin during the day several days a week.  This arrangement 

commenced on March 16, 2020 and lasted three weeks.  On April 3, 2020, Justin 

and Savannah had an altercation wherein Savannah feared for her safety.  

Savannah texted Sarah explaining that her dad had been drinking a lot and she 
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heard him calling the five-year-old twins “little pussies.”3  Savannah stated that the 

boys were upset and were crying but Justin kept yelling at them.  When Savannah 

asked Justin to stop and to calm down, he directed his anger at her.  Shortly after 

her text, Savannah also called Sarah. 

Savannah told Sarah that she would be coming home.  Savannah would not 

tell Sarah why.  Savannah was indeed dropped off at Sarah’s home.  Justin’s wife 

brought Savannah to Sarah.  In doing so, she provided no explanation and neither 

did Justin.  Sarah learned from Savannah what had happened. 

Savannah advised Sarah that Justin had followed Savannah to her room.  

Justin then got in Savannah’s face and told her she could never talk to him that 

way and that she should be thanking him for saving her life.  Justin told Savannah 

that, when her mom was pregnant with her, she was going to be aborted and that 

her mom did not want her.  Understandably, Savannah was extremely hurt and 

upset.  Justin scared Savannah by getting in her face and being visibly intoxicated.  

Savannah began refusing to visit with Justin in his home and the girls expressed 

that they did not feel safe in his care.  Further, Justin expressed indifference to the 

 
3 Sadly, Justin also frequently disparages his wife’s children. In addition to 

calling her 5-year-old twins “little pussies” (and in front of the parties’ 

children) he is constantly yelling at his wife’s 13 year old daughter.  At 

one point she yelled back and said “you’re not my Dad; I don’t have to listen 

to you!” And Justin cruelly replied, “well your dead Daddy isn’t here is he?” 

This was a reference to the child’s deceased father. 
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emotional trauma he caused Savannah.  When Sarah asked Justin why he would 

tell Savannah something so hurtful, he simply stated that Savannah needed to know 

her mom is not as perfect as she thought.  After this incident, Sarah did not feel it 

was in the girls’ best interest to visit Justin on his non-visitation days.  Now, in his 

efforts to reduce his child support obligation and apparently claim the parties’ 

daughters on his returns, Justin is attempting to utilize Sarah’s flexibility in 

parenting to buttress his argument for a custodial modification.  But, as mentioned 

above, Justin exercised additional visitation during a three-week period in March 

of 2020.   

Specifically, Justin is now asking the Court to modify the custodial 

designation to that of joint. In support of his request, Justin argues that his 

alternating weekend visitation schedule was the result of his previous work hours.  

This is not true.  As the Court will please recall, Justin was not visiting the girls 

even on his time off.  And though the prior orders allowed Justin to pick up the 

girls from school, he failed to do so – even though he would get off of work at 1:00 

p.m. allowing him plenty of time to be with the girls but he, instead, elected to 

have them remain in school.  As such, Sarah had no choice but to put them in 

daycare/after school care.  In any event, Justin’s “new” job is not so new as he has 

had the same job since May of 2016. Justin’s allegation that Sarah’s work hour 
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have increased is also not true as Sarah has had the same schedule the entire 15 

years she has been working for her employer.   

II. 
 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

 The parties’ minor children have remained in Sarah’s primary care since the 

parties’ separation in September of 2014.  As such, any request to modify custody 

should be reviewed under Ellis v. Carucci, 123 Nev. 145, 161 P.3d 239 (2007).   

Pursuant to Ellis, modification of primary physical custody is warranted only 

when (1) the party seeking a modification proves there has been a substantial 

change in circumstances affecting the welfare of the children and (2) the children's 

best interests are served by the modification.  Justin’s current motion fails to meet 

either prong.   

As presented above, the minor children have remained in Sarah’s primary 

care since September of 2014.  Since that time, the parties’ children have visited 

with Justin on alternating weekends.  Because Sarah was flexible and attempted to 

work with Justin (until he accosted and emotionally traumatized their children) in 

March of 2020, Justin feels he has established grounds to bring forth a motion to 

modify custody.  But Justin’s allegations do not meet the threshold requirement as 

he fails to demonstrate that there has been a substantial change in circumstances 

affecting the welfare of the parties’ minor children.  
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Further, pursuant to Rooney v. Rooney, 109 Nev. 540, 542, 853 P.2d 123, 

124 (1993), Justin’s Motion should not result in an evidentiary hearing as it fails to 

demonstrate adequate cause. 

 Pursuant to Rooney, the Court may deny hearing upon a motion to modify 

unless the moving party demonstrates adequate cause for the hearing.   To 

demonstrate adequate cause, Justin must set forth a prima facie case for 

modification which necessitates a showing that “(1) the facts alleged in the 

affidavits are relevant to the grounds for modification; and (2) the evidence is not 

merely cumulative or impeaching.”4   

 In his Motion, Justin simply alleges that his schedule has changed such that 

he is now able to work from home and watch the girls during home school. Justin 

omits the fact that his schedule changed back in 2016 and that, when the girls did 

spend a few school days in his home, they reported a chaotic environment.  Justin 

wants the Court to believe that his wife (of less than one year) is able to watch the 

children during their home school hours.  Justin coasts over the fact that his wife 

has 4 other children she must attend to during those time – a few of behavioral and 

learning problems requiring greater attention and rendering Justin’s new wife less 

available to provide adequate care for six children.5 Though Justin wants the Court 

 
4 Id.  

5 The household environment is chaotic and not good for the girls to be 

around.  Several of the children have behavioral issues that negatively 
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to find that this fact satisfies the substantial change prong, it is respectfully 

presented that Justin’s Motion is devoid of facts necessary to support the serious 

request of modification.  As such, pursuant to Rooney, Justin’s Motion should be 

denied.   

 Likewise, Justin’s Motion fails to demonstrate the children’s best interest 

would be served by the requested modification.  

 As provided in NRS 125C.0035, when reviewing the children’s best 

interests, the Court is directed to consider the following factors: 

 (a) The wishes of the child if the child is of sufficient age and capacity to 

form an intelligent preference as to his or her physical custody.  The parties’ oldest 

child has requested to limit her visitation with Justin given, in part, the recent 

incident described above. 

 (b) Any nomination of a guardian for the child by a parent.  Since 2014, the 

parties nominated Sarah to provide the children’s primary care.  

(c) Which parent is more likely to allow the child to have frequent 

associations and a continuing relationship with the noncustodial parent.  Since the 

 

impact the girls.  The oldest daughter curses at her mom, has called her a 

bitch and has even hit her own mom.  She is constantly on restriction and on 

the last occasion did not want to return from her father’s house after 

visitation. The household is chaotic, especially when all 6 of the children 

are there and does not lend itself to comfortable/productive home school 

conditions.   
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inception of this case, Sarah has accommodated each of Justin’s requests regarding 

custody (as well as finances).  Until now, Justin limited his time with the parties’ 

children.  This fact is not a reflection of Sarah’s willingness to facilitate a 

continuing relationship. Sarah has also agreed to a temporary school change for the 

girls due to COVID and continually demonstrates a willingness to cooperate with 

Justin.  And, as an example of Sarah’s willingness to facilitate frequent 

associations, though it was her 4th of July weekend with the girls this year, Sarah 

had the girls travel with Justin to his father’s cabin in Utah.  Likewise, Sarah 

facilitates Savannah summer visitations to Maine so she may continue to build her 

relationship with her paternal grandmother.   

      (d) The level of conflict between the parents.  In his Motion, Justin blames 

Sarah for his negligible interest in the parties’ children to date.  To that end, he 

wants the Court to believe that Sarah is simply “money hungry.” This allegation is 

false and also ironic as Justin makes this allegation while standing in an attitude of 

contempt as he has failed to pay to Sarah $11,000 in child support arrears as well 

as the remaining equalization funds owed to her pursuant to the parties’ Decree of 

Divorce.  As noted in Lamb v. Lamb, 83 Nev. 425, 433 P.2d 265 (1967), “[n]o 

party to an action can with right or reason, ask the aid and assistance of a court in 

hearing his demands while he stands in an attitude of contempt to the court’s legal 

orders and processes.” 
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Moreover, as Justin well knows, it has never been about money for Sarah.  

Since the parties’ separation (and before), Sarah’s priority has been the best 

interests of the parties’ children.  As to the conflict between the parents, it appears 

that Justin has made the parties’ relationship adversarial as he has begun to 

disparage Sarah to the children a lot more since getting married.   

      (e) The ability of the parents to cooperate to meet the needs of the child. 

Despite the current allegations, this has never been an issue for the parents and 

there is no indication it should be so now.   

      (f) The mental and physical health of the parents.  It is ironic that Justin now 

raises concerns regarding Sarah’s mental health.  Sarah assures the Court that she 

is of sound mental and physical health.  On the other hand, as to Justin, Sarah has 

concerns as Justin is constantly intoxicated - even when he has the girls.  

Additionally, he is unable to control his anger and can become violent and has 

scared Savannah several times to the point she has expressed fear for her safety.     

      (g) The physical, developmental and emotional needs of the child. As 

mentioned above, since Justin told Savannah that her mother wanted to abort her in 

addition to continually disparaging Sarah before the girls, the girls have expressed 

fear and anxiety when it is time to visit their father.   In his Motion, Justin argues 

that he is loving and exceptionally attentive.  But this is also false.  Even on the 
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weekends that the girls are in Justin’s care, it is presented that he rarely spends 

quality time with them.   

In support of this factor, Justin also now argues that he is attentive to their 

needs.  Even their material needs come into question when they are at his home.  

He requires that the girls must go home with the same clothes Sarah sent them with 

and if they take something home with them that he purchased he gets upset and 

demands they make sure to bring it back the next time.  Savannah still must take 

her basic necessities with her when she goes to her Dad’s (deodorant, lotion, etc.).  

In this regard, Justin has also told Savannah on several occasions that as he pays 

her mom so much money every month, she should be buying them two sets of 

everything - one set for Sarah’s house and one set for his.   

Additionally, Sarah is concerned about the girls’ environment and 

inadequate supervision while in Justin’s home. Savannah, for example, is often left 

to baby-sit while Justin and his wife go out.  On one occasion, they left the 

children home alone while they went to Phoenix, Arizona for the day.  Of 

additional import here is that Justin and his wife did not let anyone know that they 

were out of town, so no one knew that the children were unattended.  Likewise, 

when the children are physically with him, Justin is often not sufficiently attentive.  

In August of 2019, for example, Emma had to get stiches following a visit to the 

lake.  While Justin did tell Sarah about the incident, he refused to let her know 
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which hospital she was at.      (h) The nature of the relationship of the child with 

each parent.  While the parties’ children love both of their parents, they are bonded 

with their mother who has been their primary care provider since birth.   

      (i) The ability of the child to maintain a relationship with any sibling.  The 

girls should remain together.  As such, this factor is not applicable.   

      (j) Any history of parental abuse or neglect of the child or a sibling of the 

child.  As mentioned above, Justin can become violent and has scared Savannah 

several times where she has expressed fear for her safety.  Further, while the 

parties were married, Justin hit Sarah while she was holding Savannah.  Justin was 

also arrested for domestic violence against one of his girlfriends. It is believed that 

his criminal case ultimately resolved in July 2020.  

      (k) Whether either parent or any other person seeking physical custody has 

engaged in an act of domestic violence against the child, a parent of the child or 

any other person residing with the child. In his Motion, Justin denies this factor 

but this is also not true.  There is a history of domestic violence between the parties 

as Justin abused Sarah in front of their oldest daughter.  Justin hit Sarah in 

September 2014 (the act causing their separation). Justin was intoxicated at the 

time of the incident and he hit Sarah while she was holding their daughter 

Savannah who was 7 years old at the time.  Unfortunately, Savannah was old 

enough to understand and remember this event.  After hitting Sarah, Justin went 
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outside and let the air out of all her tires so that she could not leave.  As such, 

Sarah called police for assistance and Justin (though intoxicated) fled the scene.   

 There is also concern as Justin was arrested for perpetrating domestic 

violence upon a former girlfriend while the two were residing together.  He called 

Sarah to bail him out of jail! 

      (l) Whether either parent or any other person seeking physical custody has 

committed any act of abduction against the child or any other child. Not 

applicable. 

 In essence, Justin’s Motion should be denied as he has failed to provide 

adequate cause under Rooney.  Moreover, Justin’s Motion does not demonstrate 

the children’s best interest would be served by a modification. Rather, the 

children’s best interests are served by allowing them permanency by maintaining 

the status quo - which has been the case for the last 6 years.   

III. 

COUNTERMOTION 

A. Sarah Should be Awarded Reasonable Attorney’s Fees and Costs.  
 

As it is believed that Justin’s Motion is not ripe before the Court and as Justin 

comes before the Court under an attitude of contempt, it is respectfully requested 

that the Court grant Sarah an award of reasonable attorney’s fees for the necessity 

of addressing this Motion.  
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In this regard, NRS 18.010 provides as follows: 
 
  1.  The compensation of an attorney and counselor for his or her 
services is governed by agreement, express or implied, which is not 
restrained by law. 
      2.  In addition to the cases where an allowance is authorized by 
specific statute, the court may make an allowance of attorney’s fees to a 
prevailing party: 
      (a) When the prevailing party has not recovered more than $20,000; 
or 
       (b) Without regard to the recovery sought, when the court finds 
that the claim, counterclaim, cross-claim or third-party complaint or 
defense of the opposing party was brought or maintained without 
reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party. The court shall 
liberally construe the provisions of this paragraph in favor of awarding 
attorney’s fees in all appropriate situations. It is the intent of the 
Legislature that the court award attorney’s fees pursuant to this paragraph 
and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada Rules of Civil 
Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and deter frivolous or 
vexatious claims and defenses because such claims and defenses 
overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of 
meritorious claims and increase the costs of engaging in business and 
providing professional services to the public. 
      3.  In awarding attorney’s fees, the court may pronounce its decision 
on the fees at the conclusion of the trial or special proceeding without 
written motion and with or without presentation of additional evidence. 
      4.  Subsections 2 and 3 do not apply to any action arising out of a 
written instrument or agreement which entitles the prevailing party to an 
award of reasonable attorney’s fees. 
 
 Further, in the context of family law cases, guidance is provided by several 

cases which reviewed attorney’s fees. See Fletcher v. Fletcher, 89 Nev. 540, 516 

P.2d 103 (1973); Levy v. Levy, 96 Nev. 902, 620 P.2d 860 (1980), and Hybarger v. 

Hybarger, 103 Nev. 255, 737 P.2d 889 (1987). And, pursuant to Brunzell v. 
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Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969), the Court 

is also to consider the following factors:  

1) The Qualities of the Advocate:  his ability, his training, education, 

experience, professional standing and skill. Regarding this initial factor, it is 

respectfully presented that the undersigned counsel has obtained her JD in 2001; 

she has been licensed in the State of Nevada since October of 2001 and has 

dedicated her practice primarily to the area of family law with a focus on 

mediation of cases to circumvent litigation for families.  

2) The Character of the Work to be Done: its difficulty, its intricacy, its 

importance, time and skill required, the responsibility imposed and the prominence 

and character of the parties where they affect the importance of the litigation.  

3) The Work Actually Performed by the lawyer: the skill, time and attention 

given to the work.   As to the character of the work, given the research into the 

history of this case, and the enormity of correspondence to attempt settlement, 

instead filing a motion that must be responded to, it is of high skill importance. As 

to work actually performed, the undersigned respectfully asks this Court to find 

that the work presented is adequate and well contemplated.   

4) The Result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were 

derived.  
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While each of the foregoing factors is relevant, not one should predominate or 

be given undue weight. Miller v. Wilfong, 121 Nev. 619, 119 P.3d 727 (2005).  In 

the case at hand, Justin’s actions have forced Sarah to incur fees in addressing his 

Motion.  

IV. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

 WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing, Sarah respectfully request this 

Court enter orders granting the following relief: 

1. For an Order denying Defendant’s Motion in its entirety; 

2. For a behavioral order limiting Justin’s alcohol consumption while the 

girls are in his care, preventing Justin from disparaging Sarah to the 

parties’ children, and/or telling them inappropriate and/or damaging 

information with them; 

3. For an award of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs to the Plaintiff in 

defending this action; and 

4. For such further relief as deemed appropriate in the premises.  

DATED this 1st day of October 2020. 

      JACOBSON LAW OFFICE, LTD 
      
      

      ____________________________ 
      Rachel M. Jacobson, Esq. 
      Nevada Bar No. 007827 
      64 North Pecos Road, Suite 200 
      Henderson, Nevada 89074 
      (702) 601-0770 
      Attorney for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of JACOBSON 

LAW OFFICE, LTD., and that on this _____ day of October 2020, I caused a copy 

of the above referenced document entitled “OPPOSITION AND 

COUNTERMOTION” to be served as follows to the party(s) listed below at the 

address, and/or email address indicated below:  

  BY MAIL: Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I placed a true copy thereof enclosed 
in a sealed envelope upon which first class mail postage was prepaid in 
Henderson, Nevada; 
 
 BY ELECTRONIC SERVICE:  Pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a), EDCR 
8.05(f), NRCP 5(b)(2)(D) and Administrative Order 14-2 captioned “In the 
Administrative Matter of Mandatory Electronic Service in the Eighth 
Judicial District Court,” by mandatory electronic service through the Eighth 
Judicial District Court’s electronic filing system; and/or  
 
 BY ELECTRONIC MAIL: Pursuant to EDCR 7.26, I transmitted a copy 
of the foregoing document this date via electronic mail; 
 

To the party(s) listed below at the address, email address, and/or facsimile number 

indicated below: 

   Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
 Email: bradh@hoflandlaw.com  
 Attorney for Defendant 

 
 

       

    __________________________________________ 
    An employee of JACOBSON LAW OFFICE, LTD. 

 

1st 
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DISTRICT COURT, FAMILY DIVISION 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
SARAH MAURICE,  
 
 
                               Plaintiff, 
 
           vs. 
 
 
JUSTIN MAURICE, 
 
 
                              Defendant. 

 
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

 
CASE NO.:  D-14-506883-D 
DEPT. NO.: Q 
  
DEFENDANT’S REPLY TO 
PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO 
MOTION TO MODIFY THE CURRENT 
CUSTODIAL ARRANGEMENT; 
MODIFY CHILD SUPPORT; MODIFY 
CHILD TAX DEDUCTION; AND FOR 
AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES 
AND COSTS; AND RELATED RELIEF 
AND OPPOSITION TO 
COUNTERMOTION FOR ATTORNEY’S 
FEES AND COSTS. 
 
Date of Hearing:  October 27, 2020 
Time of Hearing:  9:00 a.m. 
 
ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED 

COMES NOW the Defendant, Justin Maurice (“Justin”), by and through his 

attorneys, Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. and Dina DeSousa-Cabral, Esq. of HOFLAND 

& TOMSHECK, and hereby submits this Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition to 

Defendant’s Motion to Modify Custody, Child Support, Child Tax Deduction, for 

an award of Attorney’s Fees and Costs, and Related Relief and his Opposition to 

HOFLAND & TOMSHECK
Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
Nevada Bar Number: 6343 
bradh@hoflandlaw.com 
Dina DeSousa Cabral, Esq. 
Nevada Bar Number:  15032 
dinad@hoflandlaw.com 
228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephones:  (702) 895-6760 
Facsimile: (702) 731-6910 
Attorney for Defendant, Justin Maurice 
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Case Number: D-14-506883-D

Electronically Filed
10/8/2020 4:22 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Plaintiff’s Countermotion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs and respectfully moves 

the Court for an order: 

1. Modifying child custody of Savanah Maurice and Emma Maurice to 

joint physical custody on a 2-2-3 schedule; 

2. Modifying child support, and set support in accordance with Wright v. 

Osburn, 114 Nev. 1367, 970 P.2d 1071 (1998), NRS 125B.070, NRS 

125B.080 and NAC 425.15;  

3. Modifying the child tax deduction so each party claims a minor child as 

a dependent on taxes each year; 

4. Awarding Justin attorney’s fees for the conduct of the Plaintiff Sarah 

Maurice that has caused this Motion to be filed with this Court;  

5. Denying Plaintiff’s Countermotion in its entirety; and 

6. Addressing any further relief this court deems proper and necessary. 

In support of this Reply and Opposition, Justin relies upon the following 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the attached declaration, as well as all 

papers and pleadings on file herein. 

Dated this 8th day of October, 2020.   

 
     HOFLAND & TOMSHECK 
 
     By:/s/ Bradley J. Hofland              
          Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
          Nevada Bar No. 6343 
          Dina DeSousa-Cabral, Esq. 
          Nevada Bar No. 15032 
          228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
          Las Vegas Nevada 89101 
          Attorneys for Defendant Justin Maurice 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. 

Introduction 

Unfortunately, the opposition and countermotion crafted and submitted by 

the Plaintiff, Sarah Maurice (“Sarah”) is a vitriolic, defamatory, ad hominem attack 

of Justin and his wife, intended to prejudice this Court and divert focus on those 

modifications that are not only warranted, but which are truly in the children’s best 

interests.  Sadly, Sarah hopes her false, fabricated, and malicious representations 

will appear credible if the relief Sarah seeks is consistent with her false narrative1.  

However, the facts of this case do not support Sarah’s positions, and the experience 

of this Court, when considering Sarah’s claims, will enable this Court to readily 

recognize the inconsistencies in Sarah’s actions, her intent to mislead and deceive 

this Court, and the absence of evidence/truth to her opposition. 

Sarah’s dishonesty and corresponding comments demonstrate an 

unreasonable intent to prevent any modification that is beyond her ability to 

control, and suspend or leverage for her convenience and/or benefit.  However, 

when consideration is directed and limited to the best interests of the children, 

Justin is confident the Court will find, as we have, the modification Justin seeks is 

best for the children.   

 
1 For example, Justin does not have any problems, nor suffered any consequences, 
with alcohol, yet Sarah (knowing this) nevertheless seeks a behavioral order 
“limiting Justin’s alcohol consumption while the girls are in his care.”  Obviously, 
Justin cannot disprove a negative, but to impose such an unwarranted limitation 
would be as warranted as imposing upon Sarah “caloric restrictions” or dictate her 
“sexual orientation”.  Likewise, Justin does not disparage Sarah to the parties’ 
children or tell them anything inappropriate.  Justin is a wonderful parent—a fact 
Sarah does not dispute, and in fact relies upon—except when Justin seeks to obtain 
and memorialize a custodial timeshare that is in the children’s best interests. 
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II. 

Statement of Facts 

Justin accurately addressed the material facts in his underlying motion, and 

for the sake of brevity, will incorporate them herein by reference.  It is significant 

to note, however, that Sarah does not dispute those facts, including Justin’s 

change of employment, work schedule, and days off; Sarah’s work schedule2, or 

the fact that a custodial timeshare was agreed upon between the parties.  Thus, in 

order to divert this Court’s attention, Sarah presents a “background” that is largely 

untrue or irrelevant—designed to malign Justin and create an unwarranted 

prejudice/bias with the Court.  Because of that, Justin will provide needed 

clarification and correct some of the more misleading, inaccurate, and defamatory 

representations made by Sarah. 

There is no dispute Justin and Sarah were divorced September 30, 2015, 

and Sarah does not dispute that because  of Justin’s work schedule at Yesco3 at the 

time of the Decree and initial custodial determination, the Parties agreed that 

Sarah would be awarded primary custody of their two children born from their 

marriage, namely Savannah Maurice (“Savannah”), born April 27, 2007 (8 years 

old at the time of the parties’ divorce; currently 13 years of age) and Emma 

Maurice (“Emma”), born February 12, 2014 (1 year old at the time of the parties’ 

divorce; currently 6 years of age).   Sarah further admits per the Decree and the 

Parties’ agreement, Justin’s visitation with Savannah and Emma is every other 

weekend from Friday after school or 3:00 p.m. if school is not in session.   

 
2 While Sarah still works in HR, her position is now that of Director of HR; 
resulting in a schedule change and increased duties and responsibilities. 
3 Justin worked with Sarah at Yesco where Sarah worked in HR and set Justin’s 
work hours which enabled her to get primary custody of the minor children and 
once the divorce was final, she caused Justin to be laid off from Yesco.  
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The narrative Sarah presents pertaining to the history of the amount of child 

support Justin was ordered to pay is meaningless.  Justin’s child support was 

decreased, and increased, according to his income, consistent with legislative 

guidelines, and equally important, set pursuant to agreement of the parties.  

Additionally, Sarah’s attention to “arrearages” is misleading—and again, 

irrelevant, as is her reference to the “remaining equalization obligation.”  Even if 

Sarah was accurate with her representations (which she is not), if made to malign 

Justin, it has nothing to do with what custodial arrangement is best for the 

children.  If Sarah’s expectation was instead, that custodial determinations will, or 

could be, somehow used to “punish” parental misconduct (again if such 

representations were true—which they are not), such expectation is ill-judged, and 

contrary to statute and the directives of the Nevada Supreme Court4. 

Sarah professes she has demonstrated a willingness to work with Justin, and 

admitted expanding the time the children spent with Justin—and in a transparent 

attempt to conceal her unreasonableness when Justin sought to memorialize their 

agreement—Sarah fabricates claims and excuses—and conceals the fact that 

whenever Justin seeks more time with the girls, she tells him to “go to Court”.  

For example, the parties’ agreement, and her “willingness to work”, disappeared 

upon Justin’s request to memorialize their agreement, and Sarah distorts their 

agreement and now characterizes it as a “demand” by Justin.  Sarah is not being 

candid with this Court. 

 
4 See NRS 125C.0035; see also Dagher v. Dagher, 103 Nev. 26, 731 P.2d 1329 
(1987); Sims v. Sims, 109 Nev. 1146, 865 P.2d 328 (1993); Blanco v. Blanco, 129 
Nev. 723, 311 P.3d 1170 (2013). 
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Continuing, the girls have not “encountered chaos” in Justin’s home5.  It is 

telling that in retaliation for Justin’s attempt to provide the stability and 

predictability that was best for the children, Sarah terminated the agreed upon 

custodial schedule, reverted back to the custodial order of the Court, and chose to 

replace the time the children had been—and would be—spending with Justin, with 

a nanny,6 who Sarah admits now comes to her home on Mondays, Tuesdays and 

Wednesdays”7. Sarah confirms she is willing to sacrifice what is best for the 

children when litigating with, or needing to control, Justin. 

Sarah’s newly crafted claims that Justin’s wife has not provided adequate 

care for the children and disparaged/undermined Sarah is patently false and 

offensive. Likewise, the conduct and statements Sarah attributes to Justin are 

equally false, demeaning, and unwarranted.  As noted above, Justin does not have 

a problem with alcohol—and Sarah knows this—but has demonstrated she is not 

limited to the truth.  Justin, and his wife, have an incredible, loving relationship 

with the children.  Justin is actively involved with the girls and they benefit from 

his support, involvement, encouragement and guidance. 

Since entry of the Decree, Justin has changed employment and currently 

works four (4) days per week (Monday through Thursday) from 8am to 4 pm, and 

works remotely from home. Justin picked up the girls from school for his 

custodial time periods, and he and his wife (“Casey”) are able to take and pick the 

girls up from school when “distance learning” is not required.  Sarah is not able to 

 
5 While implementation of “distance learning” necessitated adjustments.  What 
Sarah fails to disclose to the Court is that she is the one who had difficulties and 
texted both Justin and his wife for help submitting or figuring out the schedule. 
Sarah is not being candid with the Court. 
6 Sarah’s opposition, p. 5. 
7 Which, incidentally, comprise of the days Justin is seeking—for the children to 
be with their father rather than a nanny. 
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take the girls to school or pick them up from school.  Indeed, Sarah works 

Monday through Friday and does not   get home from work until 6:00 p.m.  As 

such, Savannah and Emma are necessarily being taken care of during the week by 

a third party (nanny and/or friend8) --despite the fact Justin is home and able to 

watch the girls and supervise their schooling (which is also currently being done 

remotely).   Further, Justin’s wife is home each day supervising her children’s 

schooling and could easily, and is willing to, also assist with Savannah’s and 

Emma’s schooling.    

Because the facts of this case, applicable law, and best interests of the 

minor children, merit modification of the custodial timeshare to joint physical 

custody, the court will readily determine that the best interests of the minor 

children support the relief Justin requests. Accordingly, given the fact Justin’s 

work schedule has changed, enabling him to be home with Savannah and Emma 

during the week and during school, Justin seeks modification of the custody and 

support provisions of the decree as well as requests the tax deductions for the 

minor children be shared.    

   III. 
Legal Analysis 

A. The Best Interests of Savannah and Emma Mandates Modification of 
the Current Custodial Schedule. 

The law is clear that a change in custody or visitation is warranted when: 

(1) the circumstances of the child or family unit as a whole have been 

substantially changed; and (2) the modification is in the best interest of the 

child under the factors set forth in NRS 125.480(4).  Ellis v. Carucci, 123 Nev. 

145, 161 P.3d 239 (2007). Sarah accepts Ellis and cites the same authority.   

 
8 The nanny/babysitter is not consistent and has another job.  Sarah’s friend, 
Dorothy works nights, an thus frequently sleeps if entrusted with the children’s 
care. 
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The facts of this case—which are a matter of record, admitted by, or not 

otherwise disputed by Sarah, confirm there has been a substantial change of 

circumstances affecting the welfare of the children.  When the parties’ divorced 

and the initial custodial determination was made, Savannah was eight (8) and 

Emma was one (1) years of age.  Savannah is now thirteen (13) and Emma is six 

(6) years of age and both minor children are in school. Also, Justin has remarried, 

the children have developed close relationships with their step-siblings, Justin’s 

employment, days off, and availability for the children, have changed9—which has 

led to the parties’ agreeing to and implementing custodial periods where the 

children spend more time with Justin.   

Sarah stoops in her response to Justin being remarried by falsely claiming “a 

chaotic environment” which apparently “appears” if Justin wants to maintain 

spending time with the children during the weekdays—and “disappears” when the 

children spend the current court ordered time with him.  Sarah’s argument is 

inconsistent with the facts, unreasonable, untrue10, and borders on the ridiculous.  

Sarah’s repeated attack of the marriage as being “less than one year” is 

inappropriate, mean-spirited, and meaningless.  Perhaps Sarah fails to recognize 

 
9 See e.g. Ritter v. Ritter, 450 N.W.2d 204 (1990) (holding “time which a parent is 
able to devote to a child is a consideration in resolving a child custody question in 
a marital dissolution proceeding.”); Bryant v. Bryant, 739 So. 2d 53 (1999); Collier 
v. Collier, 698 So.2d 150 (1997); Maloblocki v. Maloblocki, 646 N.E.2d (1995); In 
re Muell, 408 N.W.2d 774 (1987); Del Papa v. Del Papa, 172 A.D.2d 798 (1991); 
Diane L. v. Richard L., 151 A.D.2d 760 (1989). 
10 First and foremost, Justin’s home is not chaotic; he provides a loving, 
supportive, and welcome environment for the children.  There are no behavioral 
issues that negatively impact the children, Sarah’s claims are untrue, and the fact 
the environment is conducive of productive school performance has been proven—
and then promptly ignored (and misrepresented by Sarah) when Justin wished to 
memorialize the custodial change. 
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that all marriages—including those deep, everlasting relationships that remain for 

decades, and produce a union of exemplary parents—all were, at one time “less 

than one year”.  Sarah should be, but clearly isn’t, embarrassed. 

 Clearly, since the above referenced custodial determination, there has been 

a significant change of circumstances that materially affect the minor children and 

necessitate a change/modification of the custodial designation. 

Continuing, when determining the best interest of the child NRS 

§125C.0035 directs the court to consider a number of factors with any custodial 

determination. Justin has accurately addressed those factors in his underlying 

motion and incorporates such facts/discussion by reference.  However, based upon 

Sarah’s lack of candor with this Court, supplemental 

information/clarification/correction will be provided to the Court.    

a. The wishes of the child if the child is of sufficient age and 
capacity to form an intelligent preference as to his or her 
custody. NRS §125C.0035(4)(a).  

Emma is 6 years old and Savannah is 13 years old.  Savannah is of 

sufficient age and capacity to form an intelligent preference as to her custody and 

visitation.  The minor children have conveyed their preference of wanting to 

spend more time with their father rather than with a third party; Sarah’s claim 

Savannah wishes to “limit” her time with Justin is false. In fact, Savannah is of the 

age she prefers time with her friends over her parents—something most parents 

encounter as their children weather the teenage years.  This factor favors Justin 

and the modification of the current custodial timeshare.  
 

b. Any nomination of a guardian for the child by a parent. NRS 
§125C.0035(4)(b).  

In 2015 the parties agreed, for the reasons stated herein, for Sarah to be the 

children’s primary physical custodian.  When Justin sought to memorialize the 
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custodial modification the parties found to benefit the children, Sarah retaliated.  

Justin’s nomination would be for joint physical custody of the children. 
c. Which parent is more likely to allow the child to have frequent 

associations and a continuing relationship with the noncustodial 
parent. NRS §125C.0035(4)(c).  

Sarah claims she has accommodated each of Justin’s requests, admits to the 

children spending more time with Justin, but when he sought to memorialize his 

“request”, Sarah refused and retaliated; disallowing the minor children to continue 

having additional time with Justin during the week. Sarah hired a nanny and now 

prefers that Savannah and Emma be taken care of by a third party rather than by 

their father.  When Justin asks for more time with the girls, Sarah retorts by telling 

him to “go to Court”, which is why (being in the best interests of the girls) the 

underlying motion was filed. Sarah’s conduct establishes that she is not the parent 

who will allow frequent associations and a continuing relationship between 

Savannah and Emma and their father.    Sarah is not being candid with the court 

and contradicts herself.  

Thus, this factor favors Justin and the modification of the current custodial 

timeshare.  

d. Level of conflict between the parties. NRS §125C.0035(4)(d). 

Sarah misrepresents Justin’s position to mislead this Court.  Justin has 

never claimed to have “negligible interest” in the children—but just the opposite.  

Justin has undying love, commitment and devotion to his children, is loving and 

exceptionally attentive to their needs11, and is simply asking to spend more time 

based upon their needs, his ability, and Sarah’s inability.  Sarah’s willingness to 

 
11 Attached herewith as Exhibt “A” are statements from multiple individuals 
attesting to and confirming the loving, attentive, exceptional character and 
devotion of Justin. 
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sacrifice the children’s best interests and violate the duty of candor owed this 

Court creates conflict12. 

 The law supports Justin’s request for joint physical custody. Thus, this 

factor also favors Justin and the modification of the current custodial timeshare.  

e. Ability of the parents to cooperate to meet the needs of the child. 
NRS §125C.0035(4)(e). 

To her credit, Sarah claims this has never been an issue.  However, given 

her current opposition to Justin’s requests, Sarah’s unwillingness to cooperate is 

undeniable.   This factor and the best interests of Savannah and Emma warrant a 

modification of the current custodial arrangement to allow Savannah and Emma to 

spend equal time with both parents.    

f. Mental and physical health of the parties. NRS §125C.0035(4)(f).  

Both Parties are health and have the ability to properly car for Savannah 

and Emma.  Sarah’s refusal to recognize Savannah’s and Emma’s need for Justin 

as their joint physical custodian, as well as his (and the children’s) unequivocal 

preference for the same, raises concern to the mental state of Sarah13.  As long as 

she remains under the belief that she alone is able to determine the custodial 

arrangement that will be followed by the Parties, her unreasonableness, and 

brazen dishonesty, will continue to impact the minor children’s well-being.  There 

 
12 Another blatant contradiction from Sarah is her claim “it has never been about 
money for Sarah”, but yet, her opposition needlessly devotes considerable attention 
raising, distorting, and misrepresenting, financial matters, despite the fact custody 
is that which is at issue.  Further, it is significant to note Sarah doesn’t seek any 
financial relief. 
13 This concern is validated with Sarah fabricating allegations that Justin “is 
constantly intoxicated” (which is untrue and never been an issue or used as a basis 
for Sarah to remove the children from such an environment), and that Justin is 
unable to control his anger and can become violent (which like above, are untrue 
used as a basis for Sarah to remove the children from such an environment).  
Exhibit “A” disproves these claims, and the other defamatory statements made 
by Sarah. 
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can be no dispute that based upon Sarah’s behavior14, modification of the current 

custodial schedule is warranted. This factor clearly favors Justin and the 

modification of the current custodial arrangement. 

g. The physical, developmental and emotional needs of the child. 
NRS §125C.0035(4)(g).  

  Savannah’s and Emma’s physical, development and emotional needs are 

typical of children their age.   Justin has proven himself capable of recognizing 

and satisfying those needs; Sarah’s claims Justin disparages her is not true15. 

Moreover, Sarah’s reference to an injury Emma sustained when she was at the 

lake with Justin and the family is not only inaccurate and misleading, it is 

hypocritical16.  Justin is an extremely attentive, loving, caring, and devoted father.  

See Exhibit “A”.  Having the ability to avail themselves to the love, care and 

guidance of both parents on a regular and frequent bases is in Savannah’s and 

Emma’s best interests and preventing them from doing so is undeniably not in 

their best interest.  Justin wants Savannah and Emma to have a loving and 

 
14 Of note, Sarah’s parents separated when Sarah was very young.  Sarah’s father 
moved on, married another woman, and named the children he had with her 
“Sarah” and the other names of her siblings, but terminating all contact and support 
with/for Sarah.  Sarah also claims to have been sexually abused by her siblings 
from her father’s deserted family at an early age.  Sarah also has a history of 
extreme depression and bipolar acts resulting in suicidal ideation and harm to the 
children.  Whether these incidents have any bearing on her alienation towards men 
or merit further intervention remains unknown. 
15 Savannah is a teenager and has routines she follows and favorite products she 
uses.  Justin buys what she needs and does not monitor or restrict what she takes or 
brings from/to her mothers.  Moreover, the children are always properly cared 
for—despite Sarah’s claims otherwise. 
16 For example, Emma, while under Sarah’s care, suffered a trampoline accident 
that resulted in significant bruises and stitches; but while Justin promptly notified 
Sarah when Savannah got hurt, Sarah chose to wait days until notifying Justin of 
Emma’s accident. 
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significant bond with both parents.  This factor certainly favors Justin and the 

modification of the current custodial arrangement.  

h. The nature of the relationship of the child with each parent. NRS  
§125C.0035(4)(h). 

Savannah and Emma have a relationship with both parents and they love 

both of them dearly.  Justin wants the relationship Savannah and Emma have with 

both parents to continue to grow and strengthen; to be a reliable and constant 

source of strength and support as they continue through challenges, joys and 

experiences life has for them, whereas Sarah’s focus is financial rather than the 

best interests of the children—as confirmed with her opposition submitted with 

this Court.  With the increasing presence of peer pressure especially for Savannah 

in her teenage years, parental involvement is critical. 

Additionally, NRS 125.460 describes the policy of this State as one that 

ensures “minor children have frequent associations and a continuing relationship 

with both parents.”  Likewise, NRS 125.480 opens with the directive that the 

“sole consideration of the court” in custody cases must be that of the “best 

interest of the child[ren].” 

i. The ability of the child to maintain a relationship with any 
sibling. NRS  §125C.0035(4)(i). 

Parties agree the girls are to remain together.  Additionally, the girls have 

developed close relationships with their step-siblings and the requested 

modification enables all children to derive the support and benefit of the sibling 

relationships. 

j. Any history of parental abuse or neglect of the child or a sibling 
of the child. NRS  §125C.0035(4)(j). 

Sarah’s commentary is deliberately misleading.  While Justin can become 

violent, and would be so if his life, or the safety and lives of loved ones were in 

jeopardy, it is submitted Sarah has the same ability—and hopefully predisposition. 

However, Justin is not violent and certainly has not scared Savannah several times 
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as claimed by Sarah.  The allegation is ludicrous, offensive, and designed solely to 

obtain an unwarranted “knee-jerk” reaction from this Court.  Fortunately, this 

Court has seen such a tactic on countless occasions and won’t succumb to such 

deception. 

k. Whether either parent has engaged in an act of domestic violence 
against the parent of the child. NRS §125C.0035(4)(k).  

Not applicable.  Sarah raises the issue, but admits there is no evidence to 

support her allegation.  The children, Justin’s wife, and the multitude of witnesses 

that have submitted statements to this Court—and who are more than willing to 

testify to the Court, attest her claims are not true.  Justin has never been convicted 

of domestic violence—another claim seeking that unwarranted “knee-jerk” 

reaction.  
 

l. Whether either parent or any other person seeking physical 
custody has committed any act of abduction against the child or 
any other child. NRS §125C.0035(4)(l). 

Not applicable. 

Conclusion. 

Based upon the substantial change of circumstances, that clearly affect the 

well-being of the children, coupled with consideration to the best interest factors 

enumerated in NRS 125C.0035, Justin has set forth a prima facia case to modify 

the current custodial order under Rooney17 designating him and Sarah as joint 

physical custodians of Savannah and Emma.  This factor plainly favors Justin and 

the modification of the current custodial timeshare.  

Accordingly, for the best interest of Savannah and Emma, Justin reasonably 

requests modification of the current custodial timeshare to joint physical custody 

of the minor children.   

 
17 Rooney v. Rooney, 109 Nev. 540 (Nev. 1993).   
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B. The modification of the current custodial schedule warrants a 
modification of child support. 

With the modification of the current custodial schedule, as joint custodians, 

child support must necessarily be modified and should be set in accordance with 

Wright v. Osburn, 114 Nev. 1367, 970 P.2d 1071 (1998), NRS 125B.070, NRS 

125B.080 and NAC 425.15.  Sarah does not address of oppose this portion of 

Justin’s motion or the legal authority cited therein.  Justin has always been willing 

to support his children and remains intent on providing for the children’s needs.  

Sarah has shown she is willing to sacrifice the best interests of the children if that 

means Justin’s child support will not be reduced. 

C.  Modification of the child tax deduction is warranted.   

With the modification of the current custodial schedule, as joint custodians, 

the child tax deduction must necessarily be modified so the Parties share the tax 

deduction each year.   Sarah does not address this in the opposition she submitted 

with the Court. 

D. Justin is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs. 

This section was also ignored by Sarah; notwithstanding, she incredulously 

filed a countermotion seeking an award of attorney’s fees—tantamount to seeking 

a reward for her dishonesty, lack of candor, and inexcusable refusal to maintain a 

custodial timeshare that is in the children’s best interests.  Sarah’s violation of the 

duty of candor that is owed this Court, coupled with forcing Justin to seek judicial 

intervention to ensure the best interests of the children are met, renders Sarah’s 

request for attorney’s fees without merit—and in turn, supports and warrants such 

an award to Justin. 

In Barney v. Mt. Rose Heating & Air Conditioning, 192 P.3d 730, 736 

(2008) citing Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 

(1969), cited by Sarah, the Court enumerated factors that the district court should 

consider in awarding attorney fees, with no one factor controlling, as follows: 
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(1) the advocate's qualities, including ability, training, education, 
experience, professional standing, and skill; 
 
(2) the character of the work, including its difficulty, intricacy, importance, 
as well as the time and skill required, the responsibility imposed, and the 
prominence and character of the parties when affecting the importance of 
the litigation; 
 
(3) the work performed, including the skill, time, and attention given to the 
work; and 
 
(4) the result--whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were 
derived.  

Justin has met the factors outlined in Brunzell.  Justin’s counsel is qualified 

and has considerable experience, ability and training in the field of family law 

litigation. It is the responsibility of Justin’s counsel to finalize outstanding issues 

to ensure Justin’s rights are preserved and litigated, and more importantly, that 

minor children’s best interests remain paramount.  Justin’s counsel was attentive 

to work performed.  Accordingly, based upon the foregoing, it is not only fair, but 

also reasonable under the circumstances that Sarah be responsible for Justin’s 

reasonable attorney fees and costs in the sum of $3,500. 

IV. 

Conclusion 

Based upon the above, the safety and best interests of the children call for 

the immediate modification of the custodial arrangement. Justin respectfully 

requests that this Court enter an Order:   

1. Modifying child custody of Savanah Maurice and Emma Maurice to 

joint physical custody on a 2-2-3 schedule; 

2. Modifying child support, and set support in accordance with Wright v. 
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Osburn, 114 Nev. 1367, 970 P.2d 1071 (1998), NRS 125B.070, NRS 

125B.080 and NAC 425.15;  

3. Modifying the child tax deduction so each party claims a minor child as 

a dependent on taxes each year; 

4. Awarding Justin attorney’s fees for the conduct of the Plaintiff Sarah 

Maurice that has caused this Motion to be filed with this Court; and 

5. Addressing any further relief this court deems proper and necessary. 

 

Dated this 8th day of October, 2020.   

      
     HOFLAND & TOMSHECK 
 
     By:/s/ Bradley J. Hofland              
          Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
          Nevada Bar No. 6343 
          Dina DeSousa-Cabral, Esq. 
          Nevada Bar No. 15032 
          228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
          Las Vegas Nevada 89101 
          Attorneys for Defendant Justin Maurice 
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DECLARATION OF JUSTIN MAURICE 

 I, Justin Maurice, hereby state and declare as follows:  

1. That I am the Defendant in this action and I am competent to testify 

as to the matters stated herein.   

2. I have read the foregoing Reply and Opposition and the factual 

averments it contains are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, except as 

to those matters based on information and belief, and as to those matters, I believe 

them to be true.  Those factual averments contained in the referenced filing are 

incorporated here as if set forth in full. 

 

 DATED this 8th day of October, 2020. 

 

      /s/ Justin Maurice  
      Justin Maurice 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I am an employee of Hofland & Tomsheck, that 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and EDCR 7.26, I certify that on the 8th day of October, 

2020, I served the DEFENDANT’S REPLY TO PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION 

TO MOTION TO MODIFY THE CURRENT CUSTODIAL 

ARRANGEMENT; MODIFY CHILD SUPPORT; MODIFY CHILD TAX 

DEDUCTION; AND FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND 

COSTS; AND RELATED RELIEF AND OPPOSITION TO 

COUNTERMOTION FOR ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS on the 

following parties by E-Service through Odyssey and/or U.S. mail addressed as 

follows:  

 
 
 Jacobson Law Office, Ltd. 
 64 North Pecos Road, Suite 200 
 Henderson, NV 89074 
 Attorney for Plaintiff  
 
      By: /s/ Nikki Woulfe     
            Employee of Hofland & Tomsheck 
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